IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 87,318

FILED

SID J. WHITE

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

CLERK State COURT

vs.

STEVEN K. HOLIDAY,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

RICHARD L. POLIN
Florida Bar No. 0230987
Assistant Attorney General
Office of the Attorney General
Department of Legal Affairs
401 N.W. 2nd Avenue, N921
P.O. Box 013241
Miami, Florida 33101
(305) 377-5441

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Steve K. Holiday was charged by information with one count of armed burglary, one count of grand theft third degree, and one count of grand theft of a firearm. (R. 1).

During the course of voir dire, the trial court, during preliminary background questioning, questioned Margaret Urrutia as follows:

THE COURT; All right, Ma'am. Thank you very much.

Is it "Urrutia"?

THE JUROR: "Urrutia."

THE COURT: I have to make the accent in the right place. Ma'am?

THE JUROR: My name is Margaret Urrutia. I am sixty-two years old. I live in Dade County for forty years. I am a telecommunications operator.

I am married. My husband is retired seaman.

I have three children who are self employed.

I have never served in a jury.

I don't have an officer in my family. I have never had been a victim of crime, a crime victim, and twelve does not apply.1

THE COURT: Thank you, Ma'am.

(T. 46). The judge did not ask any further questions of Ms. Urrutia. The prosecutor's questioning of Ms. Urrutia was limited to the following:

MR. GONZALEZ [Prosecutor]: Ms. Urrutia? Urrutia.

THE JUROR: Urrutia.

MR. GONZALEZ: Now, you said that you had some children. How many?

THE JUROR: Three.

MR. GONZALEZ: Three. What are their occupations?

THE JUROR: One a chef and the other two are beauty cultures [sic]. They have their own business.

(T. 128). The prosecutor did not ask any other questions of Ms. Urrutia and she did not volunteer any further information. (T. 112-135). Defense counsel's voir dire of the panel members was extremely brief (T. 135-147) and did not ask a single question of Ms. Urrutia. Id. Ms. Urrutia did not volunteer any further

[&]quot;Twelve" is an apparent reference to question number 12, from the jury questionnaire form, which was being used as the basis for the preliminary background questioning. (T. 21).

information during the course of defense counsel's questioning.

During the conference for peremptory challenges, the challenges proceeded as follows: The first three peremptory challenges were exercised by the defense on the following jurors, in order: Orlando Callejas (T. 160-61); Palmer Schatell (T. 161); Robert Vega (T. 162). The prosecution then exercised its first and only peremptory challenge on Blanca Pastrana. (T. 163). The defense's fourth peremptory challenge was then exercised on William Hoblet. (T. 163). As of that time, the following other jurors had tentatively been accepted by both parties: Abraham Lobaina, Sadie Pough, Carl La Sala, Gisela Fernandez, Margaret Urrutia and Monica Crespo. (T. 161-63). When the judge then tendered the panel for acceptance (T. 164), defense counsel then sought to backstrike Ms. Urrutia, and the following transpired:

MR. SCALLY [defense counsel]: Your Honor, we strike Ms. Urrutia.

THE COURT: Margaret Urrutia, right. I have no idea if that is how we pronounce it, but it is a good try.

Defense has utilized five peremptory challenges.

MR. GONZALEZ [prosecutor]: Your Honor, as far

as Ms. Urrutia is concerned, I ask for race and gender neutral reason.

THE COURT: What reason do we have? Sir?

MR. HENDON [defense counsel]: Your Honor, essentially, the reason that we struck juror Urrutia is, I just do not think she can be fair to my client. It has nothing to do with her race.

She was very forceful in her answering the questions. Even corrected how we mispronounced her name, and in consideration of the other panel members we have, I do not think blending with the other panel members she would be fair to my client.

THE COURT: A gender neutral or race neutral reason for striking the juror.

MR. HENDON: Your Honor, again, it has nothing to do with her gender or her race. It is my gut feeling as defense attorney that this particular juror, who came across forceful in her responses to the questions, would be a juror more inclined to believe everything the state's witnesses are testifying to.

THE COURT: Based on the case law I don't think that is good enough.

MR. HENDON: Well, Your Honor, is the State claiming a specific objection to us exercising a peremptory? Are they saying it is based on her gender or her ethnicity or under what basis is the state challenging our right to exercise our peremptory challenge --

MR. GONZALEZ: Both.

MR. HENDON: -- to this particular juror?

MR. GONZALEZ: Both, in response to the defense. State v. Reid 507 So. 2d. Unacceptable reasons for exclusion of a juror. Feeling about a juror.

I think his other argument was to reach a juror on the panel and ability to mix in with those jurors. That under Allen v. State 17 FLWD 622, that is a Third D.C.A. -- March of 1992 I believe that is also impermissible reason to exclude a juror.

MR. HENDON: Your Honor, we have to get to the actual reason for peremptory challenges.

In this particular case we are intending to exercise a peremptory solely because she is a juror who we believe would not be the best juror for this client in this particular trial.

I have no idea what Ms. Urrutia's ethnicity is. Yes, she is a woman. I concede that. But my desire to strike her has nothing to do with her gender. It is based strictly on the presence that she displayed in my mind when answering the questions that were posed by the Court, the state and the defense.

MR. GONZALEZ: For the record, Your Honor, the defendant in this case is black and all the strikes the defense used has been on white members of the jury.

MR. HENDON: For the record, we have a limited number of non-white jurors. Would that we would have an equal number so this would never be a question. But just because we have exercised challenges on jurors who are not black has no bearing on the defense intents in this case.

The victim in this case is black as well.

THE COURT: I am leaving her on. I don't find any gender or race neutral reason for striking this juror. Nor have I noticed anything unusual in her mannerism towards this defendant or toward anyone that would warrant her exclusion under the case law.

She is back on.

(T. 164-67). Defense counsel then tendered the jury, but renewed "the objection to the Court not allowing our peremptory challenge of juror Urrutia." (T. 167-68). Defense counsel added, "We believe in the spirit of peremptory challenges the defense has an absolute right to strike a juror that the defense feels would not be fair to the defense's client." (T. 168). The judge responded as follows:

THE COURT: I understand your position. I am not sure that the Third District or the Supreme Court of Florida or the Supreme Court of the United States feel the same way. Although, I certainly welcome any further elucidation on the subject that they can offer.

(T. 168). After the selection of the alternate jurors, the jury was sworn. (T. 169).

The defendant was subsequently convicted as charged on all three counts, adjudicated guilty on all three counts, and sentenced to a term of seven years incarceration for the armed burglary and five years incarceration on each of the two other counts. (R. 42-

46, 49-53). All of the sentences were to run concurrently. (R> 52). For the armed burglary, a three year minimum mandatory sentence was imposed as well. (R. 51).

On appeal to the Third District Court of Appeal, the defendant asserted that "the lower court, based on an inadequate objection by the State, erroneously conducted a <u>Neil</u> inquiry of his reasons for challenging a juror." (R. 66; Pet. App. 2). The District Court of Appeal concluded that the trial court erred in disallowing defense counsel's peremptory challenge as to Ms. Urrutia. The Court engaged in the following analysis:

The Florida Supreme Court's pronouncement in <u>Neil</u> is our starting point. court held: "A party concerned about the other side's use of peremptory challenges must make a timely objection and demonstrate on the record that the challenged persons are members of a distinct racial group and that there is a likelihood that they have challenged solely because of their race." Id. At 486 (footnote omitted). State v. Johans, 613 So. 2d 1319 (Fla. 1993), eliminated the requirement that an objector demonstrate a "strong likelihood" that the juror in question was being challenged solely on account of their race. Preston v. State, 641 So. 2d 168, 170 n. 3 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994). The <u>Johans</u> court held that "a Neil inquiry is required when an objection is raised that a peremptory challenge is being *used* in a discriminatory manner." <u>Johans</u>, 613 So. 2d at 1321. (Emphasis added).

Recently, this court elaborated on the prima facie burden an objecting party must meet to satisfy Johans. In <u>Cruz v. State</u>, 660 So. 2d 792 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995), we held that "in order to properly invoke a Neil inquiry objecting party must make objection, and create the fact-supported inference that a peremptory challenge is being used in a racially discriminatory manner." Id. (emphasis added). In that case, the state defendant's objected to the use ofperemptory challenge by stating: "Judge, this time we would exercise -- I mean we would ask the court to inquire regarding the reason for striking Ms. --, what was the last one, Garcia-Kostik. The defense has now strike (sic) four Latin women." Id. (Alteration in A Neil inquiry was warranted original). because: "[T]he State in the instant case went a crucial step further in its demand for a Neil inquiry by supplying a fact-supported of predicate inference a racially discriminatory peremptory challenge. fact-based support was sufficient to meet the threshold Johans test for invoking a proper Neil inquiry." Id.

foregoing demonstrates objector must do something more than merely objecting and requesting class, race, gender neutral reasons. A party objecting to the other side's use of peremptory challenges must affirmatively do three things to properly trigger a Neil inquiry: (1) make a timely objection; (2) demonstrate on the record that the challenged person is a member of distinct racial group, cognizable class, or gender; and (3) place on the record facts which reasonably indicate that a peremptory challenge is being used impermissibly. deficiency in the objections that run through the cases is the failure to state "why" or "how" the peremptory challenge is being used

in a discriminatory fashion. Once this has been done "any doubt as to whether the complaining party has met its initial burden should be resolved in that party's favor." State v. Slappy, 522 So. 2d 18 (Fla.), cert denied, 487 U.S. 1219, 108 S. Ct. 2873, 101 L. Ed. 2d 909 (1988). It is worth noting that although certain facts may be apparent to the court and counsel below, it is important that these facts be placed on the record so as to allow for meaningful appellate review.

We reach this view based on Johans and the general law regarding the dispelling of a presumption as follows: Johans continues to recognize that there is a presumption that a challenge peremptory is being employed. Johans eliminated the requirement an objector demonstrate a likelihood" that a peremptory challenge is being used solely on account of race, gender, This does not mean, however, hat an objector need not show any likelihood that a peremptory challenge is being so used. presumption exists in a party's normally the opposing party must participate to dispel the presumption by making some showing. Again, the Johans opinion explicitly stated that "a Neil inquiry is required when an objection is raised that a peremptory challenge is <u>being used</u> in a discriminatory manner." Johans, 613 So. 2d at 1321 (emphasis added). Nonetheless, some have read the supreme court's opinion in Valentine <u>v. State</u>, 616 So. 2d 971 (Fla. 1993), having eliminated altogether the threshold burden an objecting party must meet to warrant an inquiry into the other's use of peremptory challenges. We do not so interpret Valentine. If we are incorrect, the Supreme Court, upon proper petition, will obviously correct us.

In the instant case, the state's bare

request for race and gender neutral reasons was not enough to warrant the trial court's inquiry, [footnote 1] Portu v. State, 651 So. 2d 791 (Fla. 3d DCA), review denied, 658 So. 2d 992 (Fla. 1995); Betancourt v. State, 650 So. 2d 1021 (Fla. 3d DCA), review denied, 659 So. 2d 272 (Fla. 1995), and it was reversible error to disallow the challenge on the grounds that the reasons proffered were insufficient.

[footnote 1]: In fact, the State's objection failed to demonstrate on the record whether juror Urrutia was a member of a distinct racial group or cognizable class. However, because the stated objection did identify her as to her gender, we analyze the sufficiency of the State's objection under the third prong of the previously mentioned test.

(R. 66-70); <u>Holiday v. State</u>, 665 So. 2d 1089, 1090-91 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996).

OUESTION PRESENTED

WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE LOWER COURT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT OR OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL, AND ERRONEOUSLY CONCLUDES, THAT A TRIAL COURT JUDGE LACKS AUTHORITY TO CONDUCT A NEIL INQUIRY WHEN AN OBJECTION TO A PEREMPTORY CHALLENGE IS NOT ACCOMPANIED BY A STATEMENT OF "FACTS" WHICH REASONABLY INDICATE THAT A PEREMPTORY CHALLENGE IS BEING USED IMPERMISSIBLY.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In concluding that a Neil inquiry may not be conducted until a prima facie case has established that a peremptory challenge is discriminatory, the lower Court has misapplied this Court's decision in State v. Johans, infra, which eliminated the requirement that the Neil objection include allegations of a substantial likelihood of discrimination. In depriving the trial judge of jurisdiction to conduct an inquiry, the lower Court has interjected hypertechnial requirements into the Neil procedures. Those requirements can have no effect other than to deter judges from conducting inquiries which this Court has encouraged them to conduct. Furthermore, mandating reversal on a disallowance of a peremptory challenge, when the reason given is clearly pretextual improper, simply because a prima facie case was not demonstrated prior to the inquiry, is inconsistent with the policies of Neil and Batson, infra, in seeking to eliminate discrimination from the jury selection process.

ARGUMENT

THE PROCEDURES OUTLINED AND UTILIZED BY THE LOWER COURT FOR REVIEWING NEIL ISSUES ON APPEAL ARE INCONSISTENT WITH THE PRONOUNCEMENTS OF THIS COURT.

In a lengthy series of cases, the Third District Court of Appeal has reversed numerous convictions, after finding that prosecutorial objections to defense counsels' peremptory challenges were insufficient to permit the trial judge to engage in Neil inquiries, for the purpose of ascertaining whether a race- or gender-neutral reason existed to support the challenge at issue. See, e.g., Portu v. State, 651 So. 2d 791 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995), review denied, 658 So. 2d 992 (Fla. 1995); Betancourt v. State, 650 So. 2d 1021 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995), review denied, 659 So. 2d 272 (Fla. 1995); Pride v. State, 664 So. 2d 1114 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995); Garcia v. State, 655 So. 2d 194 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995); Barguin v. State, 654 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995); Miller v. State, 664 So. 2d 1082 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995); Slaton v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D42 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996). In recent months, the Fourth District Court of Appeal appears to have adhered to the same reasoning. See, e.g., Rivera v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D805 (Fla. 4th DCA April 3, 1996).

All of the foregoing cases, including the instant opinion in Holiday v. State, 665 So. 2d 1089 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996), arise in the context of trial court denials of defense counsel peremptory challenges, pursuant to prosecutorial efforts to either object to defense counsel peremptory challenges under Neil or to elicit race-or gender-neutral reasons from defense counsel for the peremptory challenge at issue.²

Several distinct problems emerge from the Third District's line of cases; all of those problems are manifested in the decision under review herein. The first problem focuses on the nature of the <u>prima facie</u> case which must be demonstrated, in the aftermath of <u>State v. Johans</u>, 613 So. 2d 1319 (Fla. 1993), before a trial judge is obligated to conduct a <u>Neil</u> inquiry into the reasons for the peremptory challenge. The second problem focuses on whether the prosecutor's objection to a defense counsel's peremptory

The reverse side of this issue, allegedly erroneous denials of prosecutorial peremptory challenges, is an issue which is unlikely to ever arise on appeal, since double jeopardy ramifications preclude the State from seeking review after an acquittal, and the State is generally unconcerned with an erroneous denial of a prosecutorial peremptory challenge after a conviction, and thus the State is unlikely to assert such an error by way of cross-appeal from a defendant's appellate review of a conviction.

challenge is sufficiently specific and, if not, whether the trial court thereby lacks jurisdiction to proceed with a <u>Neil</u> inquiry, even if the judge and defense counsel reasonably understand that the prosecutor was objecting pursuant to <u>Neil</u> and its progeny. The third problem, subsumed within the preceding issues, focuses on what the proper consequences should be if a trial judge does conduct a full <u>Neil</u> inquiry if any of the requisite predicates to such an inquiry had not been previously established.

When each of the foregoing areas is explored, it must be concluded that the Third District's line of cases is contradictory to the principles which have evolved from this Court. The Third District's reasoning, if adhered to, will only serve to have a chilling effect on trial court judges, deterring them from ever conducting Neil inquiries when defense attorneys' peremptory challenges are objected to.

A. Prima Facie Case Requirement

This Court, in <u>State v. Neil</u>, 457 So. 2d 481, 486 (Fla. 1984), set forth the following requirements as prerequisites to a trial court's obligation to conduct an inquiry:

A party concerned about the other side's use of peremptory challenges must make a timely objection and demonstrate on the record that the challenged persons are members of a distinct racial group and that there is a strong likelihood that they have been challenged solely because of their race. party accomplishes this, then the trial court decide if there is a substantial likelihood that the peremptory challenges are being exercised solely on the basis of race. If the court finds no such likelihood, no inquiry may be made of the person exercising the questioned peremptories. On the other if the court decides that such a likelihood has been shown to exist, the burden shifts to the complained-about party to show the questioned challenges were exercised solely because of the prospective jurors' race.

457 So. 2d at 486-87 (emphasis added). When the United States Supreme Court considered the same issue, two years later, in terms of the federal Constitution, the prima facie case requirement was stated in a similar manner:

Finally, the defendant must show that these facts and any other relevant circumstances raise an inference that the prosecutor used that practice to exclude the veniremen from the petit jury on account of their race.

Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 96, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed. 2d 69
(1986). The United States Supreme Court embellished upon the facts

Neil made it clear that this Court's decision was based solely on the Florida Constitution, Article I, section 16.

that would, for purposes of <u>Batson</u>, satisfy the requirement of a prima facie case:

In deciding whether the defendant has made the requisite showing, the trial court should consider all relevant circumstances. For example, a "pattern" of strikes against black jurors included in the particular venire give rise to an inference discrimination. Similarly, the prosecutor's questions and statements during voir dire examination and in exercising his challenges support or refute an inference of may discriminatory purpose. These examples are merely illustrative. We have confidence that trial judges, experienced in supervising voir able to decide dire. will be circumstances concerning the prosector's use of peremptory challenges creates a prima facie case of discrimination against black jurors.

476 U.S. at 96-97.

This Court, in <u>State v. Slappy</u>, 522 So. 2d 18, 21 (Fla. 1988), subsequently elaborated upon the nature of the "substantial likelihood" requirement:

Unfortunately, deciding what constitutes a "likelihood" under Neil does not lend itself to precise definition. It is impossible to anticipate and articulate the many scenarios that could give rise to the inference required by Neil and Batson. . . .

While noting such difficulties, and "resisting the temptation to craft a brightline test," which "could cause more havor than the

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