IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 87,318

THE STATE OF FLORIDA.

Petitioner,

-VS-

STEVEN K. HOLIDAY,

Respondent.



ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1320 N.W. 14th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-1928

ROBERT KALTER Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 260711

Counsel for Respondent

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

Therefore, in *Betancourt*, the Third District Court of Appeal concluded that the state's attempt to deny defendant the right to exercise a peremptory challenge was not designed to prevent racial discrimination but instead was an attempt to deny defendant the right to a peremptory challenge. The reversal in *Betancourt* was not based on a technically insufficient objection but instead was based upon the conclusion that there was no evidence of discrimination present in the record.

Subsequent to the court's opinion in *Betancourt*, the Third District Court of Appeal was presented with numerous cases wherein the court came to the conclusion that the

state's attempt to deny defendant the right to a peremptory challenge was not based on discrimination. *Garcia v. State* 655 So.2d 194 (Fla. 3d DCA), *review denied* 662 So. 2d 343 (Fla. 1995)(error to deny Hispanic defendant's right to strike Hispanic juror when there was no basis whatsoever in the record to even imply a racial reason for the strike.); *Barquin v. State*, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D1248 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995)(error to deny Hispanic male's right to strike Hispanic juror when the record failed to establish any reason why defendant would want to discriminate against an Hispanic male.)

Once again in these cases the court reviewed the record and came to the conclusion that there was no evidence of discrimination and, therefore, it was error to require defense counsel to give a reason for the peremptory challenge. In none of these cases did the court rely on the mere technical ground that the objection made by the state was insufficient.

The state in its brief argues that the Third District Court of Appeal erred in reversing defendant's convictions since the reasons given by defense counsel in all of the above cited cases, including this case, were "gut feeling reasons" which by themselves establish that the reasons were discriminatory in nature. The United States Supreme Court in *Purkett v. Elem*, 115 U.S. 1769 (1995) has recognized that any reason given by a party that is not based upon a party's race is a race neutral reason. The court further recognized that a race-neutral reason tendered by a proponent of a peremptory challenge need not be persuasive, or even plausible. The persuasiveness of the justification only becomes relevant when the trial court determines whether the opponent has carried his burden of proving purposeful discrimination.

In Betancourt, supra, the Third District correctly recognized:

"the mere fact that a prospective juror is a member of one of the groups protected from intentional discrimination by one of the Batson-Neil decisions is not enough to allow the opposing litigant or the trial court to usurp the challenging party's discretion in exercising a peremptory challenge or even to require a "reasonable" basis for the strike. Portu v. State, 651 So.2d 792 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995); see Slappy, 522 So.2d at 22. These requirements apply only when it may rationally be determined that the juror's status is the reason for the challenge in the first place so that the proffered reason is a "pretext" or "subterfuge" to mask a forbidden motivation."

Therefore, when a party's reason for striking a juror is because the juror appears "funky" or, as in this case, the party has a "gut feeling" that the juror will not be fair to the defendant, this reason standing by itself is clearly a race neutral reason for striking a juror. The state in its brief cites numerous cases that have held that these types of reasons are pretextual and, therefore, impermissible. However what the state ignores in its analysis is the fact that before a reason can be considered pretextual, the trial court must first make a finding that there is some likelihood of discrimination.

The facts in the instant case will clearly illustrate defendant's position. The state in this case objected to defense counsel striking Juror Urrutia. The state asked that defense counsel give gender and race neutral reasons. Despite the fact that the state never alleged discrimination, coupled with the fact that the record failed to establish any inference of discrimination, the trial court without making any finding of discrimination required defense counsel to give a reason for the peremptory challenge. After objecting to being

forced to give a reason, defense counsel stated that he did not believe that this juror was the right juror for the defendant in this case. The court, without making any finding of discrimination, made the following ruling:

I am leaving her on. I don't find any gender or race neutral reason for striking this juror. Nor have I noticed anything unusual in her mannerism towards this defendant or toward anyone that would warrant her exclusion under the case law.

It is clear in this case that the trial judge, unlike the trial judge in *Koon,* never made any finding, either prior to defendant giving his reason for the peremptory challenge or subsequent to his giving the reason, that defendant was discriminating in jury selection. Instead, all the court did was wrongfully conclude that the defendant's reason was not gender or race neutral. The fact that defendant did not think Juror Urritia would be a good juror in this case was a race neutral reason for striking the juror. If the trial judge had concluded that there was evidence in the record to support an inference of discrimination, at that point the judge would have been authorized to make a finding that the reason given by defense counsel was a pretext used to conceal his discriminatory reason for striking the juror.

The record in this case completely supports the Third District Court of Appeal's conclusion that there was no reason in common sense, legal intuition or the record to overcome the presumption that the peremptory challenge was exercised in a non-discriminatory manner. After alleging that defendant was discriminating against the juror based upon her race, gender, and ethnic background, the only thing the state was able to point to support this allegation was that defendant had used all his peremptory

challenges to strike white jurors. Defense counsel immediately informed the court that the great majority of the potential jurors were white and, therefore, it was not surprising that he was striking white jurors. (T. 166). As the First District court of Appeal in *McClain v. State*, 596 So. 2d 800 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) and *Phillips v. State*, 591 So. 2d 987 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) correctly recognized, "When peremptory challenges are being used to strike members of a majority race, a heavy burden to establish invidious racial motivation accompanies any attempt to deny, pursuant to *Neil*, the striking party's right to exercise its peremptory challenges." Since the record in this case fails to establish that defendant was intending to discriminate against Juror Urritia, the Third District Court of Appeal correctly concluded that it was error to deny defendant's right to exercise a peremptory challenge on this juror.

In a further attempt to convince this court that the Third District Court of Appeal has been reversing convictions based upon technical violations, the state argues that the court's "cavalier" treatment of the record resulted in the wrongful reversal of defendant's conviction in this case. In its brief, the state cites to a footnote in the Third District's opinion wherein the court concluded that "the State's objection failed to demonstrate on the record whether juror Urrutia was a member of a distinct racial group or cognizable class." The state then claims that the Third District reversed defendant's conviction in this case due to the state's failure to identify what cognizable group defendant was discriminating against.⁶

The state correctly points out in its brief that during the *Neil* inquiry the state indicated that all of defendant's peremptory challenges had been exercised against white jurors.

In its brief, the states argues: "According to the lower court, once the State's initial objection neglected to mention the race of the stricken juror, any effort by the State to clarify that objection moments later during the course of the ensuing *Neil* inquiry, is of no consequence." The state asserts: "How such hypertechnical rulings will serve to instill confidence in the public that the judiciary is engaging in a good-faith effort to preclude discriminatory peremptory challenges from tainting the outcome of cases is utterly beyond comprehension."

The assistant attorney general's argument that the Third District Court of Appeal reversed defendant's conviction in this case based upon the mere technical ground that the state failed to allege that the juror was a member of a cognizable class could not be further from the truth. The state in its brief when citing footnote 1 of the opinion of the Third District Court of Appeal decided to delete the remainder of footnote 1 wherein the Third District Court of Appeal stated the following: "However, because the stated objection did identify her as to her gender, we analyze the sufficiency of the State's objection under the third prong of the previously mentioned test." The "third prong" is whether there was any evidence that created a reasonable inference of discrimination. The court proceeded to evaluate the record in this case and concluded that since the record failed to create an inference of discrimination, it was error to deny defendant his right to a peremptory challenge. Nowhere in the opinion did the court hold that the fact that the state failed to identify the challenged juror as a member of a cognizable class required reversal of defendant's conviction.

Therefore, the state's argument that the Third District has concluded that once the

state has failed to make a technically correct objection, the trial judge has no jurisdiction to stop discrimination in jury selection is a misleading argument that is totally unsupported by the record. The Third District Court of Appeal reversed the conviction in this case because defendant was denied a peremptory challenge despite the fact that there was no evidence that he was discriminating against the juror based upon her race, gender and ethnic background.⁷

Next, the state tries to justify the denial of a defendant's right to a peremptory challenge by convincing this court that even when the state wrongfully denies a defendant a peremptory challenge, the harmless error doctrine should apply. In making this argument, the state asks this court to reconsider its opinion in *Gilliam v. State*, 514 So .2d 1098 (Fla. 1987) wherein this Court has held that the denial of a party's right to peremptorily challenge a juror who ends up serving on the jury is *per se* reversible error. In requesting this court to reconsider its opinion, the state relies on a non-final, Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals decision which holds that the harmless error doctrine should apply to the wrongful denial of a party's right to exercise a peremptory challenge.

The state in its brief also argues that the opinion of the Third District taken to its logical conclusion prohibits judges from stopping discrimination in their courtroom even when both parties are intent on discriminating. The state cites *Brogden v. State*, 649 A.2d 1196 (Md. App. 1994) for the proposition that a trial court on its own motion can force a party to give race neutral reasons for a peremptory challenge. There is nothing in the opinion in this case or any of the other cases that the state complains about which could even remotely lead someone to the conclusion that the Third District has concluded that a trial judge can not stop discrimination in its courtroom even when none of the parties have objected. In none of these cases, did the trial judge on its own motion request a *Neil* hearing because it felt a party was discriminating in jury selection.

In *United States v. Annigoni*, 68 F.3d 279 (9th Cir 1996) (a case that is being reviewed by the court *en banc*), the court concluded that the United States Supreme Court's opinion in *Ross v. Oklahoma*, 108 S.Ct. 2273 (1988) supports the conclusion that the harmless error doctrine should apply when a defendant is denied a peremptory challenge and that juror remains on the jury. However, a careful review of *Ross v. Oklahoma*, supra, clearly establishes that the United States Supreme Court in *Ross* did not reverse its prior rulings that when a defendant is denied his right to a peremptory challenge the error is presumed harmful.

The United States Supreme Court, similar to this Court, has held that the denial or impairment of the right to exercise peremptory challenges is reversible error without a showing of prejudice. *Swain v. Alabama*, 380 U.S. 202, 219, 85 S.Ct. 824, 835, 13 L.Ed.2d 759 (1965). *Ross v. Oklahoma*, 487 U.S. 81, 108 S.Ct. 2273, 101 L.Ed.2d 80 (1988), does not support the application of harmless error in a situation where a defendant is denied his right to a peremptory challenge and that juror remains on the jury. In that case, the trial court erroneously refused to excuse a juror for cause and state law required the defendant to exercise a peremptory challenge against that juror to preserve the issue for appeal. The combination of the trial court's error and state law effectively denied the defendant the use of one peremptory challenge. The Court, however, found no violation of the defendant's right to an impartial jury under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments, because the juror who should have been dismissed for cause did not sit and there was no showing that the jurors who actually sat were partial.

The issue the United States Supreme Court had to decide in Ross was similar to the

issue this Court had to decide in *Trotter v. State*, 576 So. 2d 691 (Fla. 1990), which was whether a new trial is warranted when a defendant is denied a challenge for cause and then has to expend a peremptory challenge to excuse that jury. Both the United States Supreme Court and this Court have recognized that unless an objectionable juror remains on the jury, there is no reversible error.

The situation in *Ross*, *supra*, and *Trotter*, *supra*, is completely different from the situation in this case. Here, the defendant has been denied a peremptory challenge and the objectionable juror remained on the jury; therefore, defendant did not have to establish prejudice. *See Gilliam v. State*, *supra*; *United States v. Bennett*, 928 F.2d 1548, 1553 (11th Cir. 1991); *United States v. Mosely*, 810 F.2d 93 (6th Cir. 1987); *Knox v. Collins*, 928 F.2d 657 (5th Cir. 1991)(denial of a defendant's right to a peremptory challenge is reversible error.); *United States v. Vargas*, 606 F.2d 341(1st. Cir. 1979)("there is little doubt that if the court or prosecution deprives a defendant of his right to the effective exercise of peremptory challenges, it would, without more, be grounds for a new trial.").

In *United States v. Broussard*, 987 F.2d 215 (5th Cir. 1993), the government argued similar to the state in this case, that *Ross v. Oklahoma*, supra, supports the proposition that the harmless error doctrine should apply when a defendant has been denied the right to exercise a peremptory challenge. In rejecting this argument, the court recognized that *Ross* deals with the effect that a denial of a challenge for cause has on peremptory challenges, and not with a situation like the one in this case where a defendant is denied a peremptory challenge and that juror serves on the jury. The court went on to hold:

Here, we are not dealing with the impact of an

erroneous ruling on a challenge for cause on peremptory challenges themselves. Applying the doctrine in this context would eviscerate the right to exercise peremptory challenges, because it would be virtually impossible to determine that these rulings, injurious to the perceived fairness of the petit jury, were harmless.

Broussard, 987 F.2d at 221.

Therefore, the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals has recognized that the request to apply the harmless error doctrine to the wrongful denial of a defendant's right to exercise a peremptory challenge is a masked attempt at asking the court to eliminate peremptory challenges. Since every case other than the Ninth Circuit's opinion in *Annigoni*, *supra*, has concluded similar to this court in *Gilliam*, *supra*, that the harmless error doctrine does not apply when a defendant is denied the right to a peremptory challenge of a juror and that juror serves on the jury, this court should reject the state's request to revisit this issue.

Since defendant was denied the right to exercise a peremptory challenge on Juror Urritia, the Third District Court of Appeal correctly concluded that defendant was entitled to a new trial. Therefore, this court should affirm the well-reasoned decision of the Third District Court of Appeal.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, this Honorable Court should affirm the well-reasoned decision of the Third Distirct Court of Appeal.